IN THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL, FIFTH DISTRICT  
OF THE STATE OF FLORIDA

TONY LEON HAYES, )  
 )  
 Appellant, )  
 )  
 vs. )  
 )  
 STATE OF FLORIDA, )  
 )  
 Appellee. )  
 \_\_\_\_\_ )

CASE NO. 75,040

FILED  
JUN 18 1990 ✓  
CLERK, SUPREME COURT  
By: *DC*  
Deputy Clerk

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT  
IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY  
FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON  
PUBLIC DEFENDER  
SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES  
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER  
112-A Orange Avenue  
Daytona Beach, Fl. 32114  
(904) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On August 8, 1989, the Spring Term Grand Jury in and for Volusia County, Florida, returned a four-count indictment charging Tony Leon Hayes with first-degree murder, armed robbery, conspiracy to commit first-degree murder, and conspiracy to commit armed robbery. (R1174-5) Hayes entered a plea of not guilty on October 24, 1988. (R1177) On December 14, 1988, Hayes' counsel filed a motion to withdraw citing irreconcilable differences. (R1188-9) Although a hearing was held on this motion before the Honorable Judge Kim Hammond on December 15, 1988, at 2 p.m., the transcript of that hearing is not contained in the record on appeal. The motion was orally denied by Judge Hammond at the hearing. (R903-5)

Appellant filed a motion seeking severance of his trial

from that of his co-defendant's, Nathan Watson and Anthony Gillam. (R1206-7) The trial court granted the motion for severance. (R1208)

Appellant filed a motion for disclosure of the state's intent to rely on aggravating factors, but trial counsel subsequently withdrew that motion on August 24, 1989. (R908,1212)

On August 14, 1989, Appellant filed a motion to suppress statements that he made to Detective Greg Smith of the Daytona Beach Police Department. (R1225-7) Appellant also filed a motion to suppress Bruce Hayes' identification from a photographic lineup. (R1228-31) Following a hearing on August 24, 1989, the trial court denied both of these motions. (R900-1050) The trial court found that Hayes' statements to Smith were voluntary. (R1013-14) The trial court also concluded that there was no evidence to indicate that there had been any suggestiveness or taint in Bruce Hayes' identification of Appellant in a photographic lineup. (R1046)

On September 5, 1989, the case proceeded to a jury trial before the Honorable Gayle Graziano, Circuit Judge. (R1-897) During jury selection, the trial court restricted defense counsel's examination of the potential jurors. (R137-9) Also during voir dire, the trial court granted a state's cause challenge of a juror, but denied a similar challenge to another juror by the Appellant. (R82-5,256-8) Appellant exhausted all of his peremptory challenges. (R292-3)

During the state's case-in-chief, the trial court

overruled Appellant's objection and allowed hearsay evidence.

(R499) During the testimony of Detective Smith, the trial court allowed the prosecutor to elicit certain testimony over Appellant's objection. (R680-2) The trial court also restricted the cross-examination of Felicia Ross and Nathan Watson. (R546-51,721) Additionally, the medical examiner arranged chairs to form the model of the taxi over defense objection. (R585-6)

After the state's case, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal which the trial court denied. (R726) Appellant attempted to present the testimony of Gerald Long during his case-in-chief. The state objected and the trial court excluded the witness based on irrelevance. (R771-97) After the trial court's ruling, Appellant presented no evidence, rested, and renewed his motion for judgment of acquittal. (R797-9) The trial court again denied the motion. Following deliberation, the jury returned with verdicts of guilty as charged on all four counts. (R893-5,1275-8)

On September 12, 1989, Appellant filed a notice of waiver of the jury advisory sentence. (R1279) Following a hearing, the trial court denied Appellant's motion. (R1052-6) The case proceeded to a penalty phase on September 14, 1989. (R1061-1152) Appellant objected to an instruction on both aggravating circumstances dealing with "during the commission of a robbery" and "pecuniary gain". (R1063-6,1138-9) Following deliberations, the jury returned with an eleven to one (11-1) recommendation that Tony Hayes should die. (R1148-50,1281)

Appellant filed a motion for new trial on September 15, 1989. (R1291-2) He also filed a motion to declare Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes, to be unconstitutional. (R1293-1310) At the sentencing hearing, the trial court denied both of these motions. (R1154-9) The trial court also denied Appellant's previously filed motion for leave of court to interview a juror. (R1155-6,1159,1288-90) The state prepared a scoresheet for the non-capital offenses resulting in a recommended guideline sentence of nine to twelve years. (R1319)

The trial court sentenced Tony Hayes to die in the electric chair and filed written findings of fact in support of that sentence. (R1171-2,1212-18) The trial court chose to depart from the recommended guidelines sentence and sentenced Hayes to forty years in prison for Count II, armed robbery. The court ordered this sentence to run consecutively to the death sentence and the sentence imposed in Count III. On Count III, conspiracy to commit first-degree murder, the trial court sentenced Hayes to thirty years in prison. The court ordered this sentence to run concurrently with the death sentence. The trial court also sentenced Hayes to fifteen years in prison to run consecutively to the death sentence imposed on Count III. (R1170-1,1320-7) The court allowed Hayes credit for 400 days previously served. The trial court orally cited four reasons in support of the departure which are reflected on the bottom of the scoresheet. The court cited the unscored premeditated capital murder, Appellant's use of drugs during the offense, the need to protect the public, and

Appellant's lack of remorse. (R1170-1,1319)

Hayes filed a notice of appeal on November 13, 1989.

This Court has jurisdiction pursuant to Article V, Section 3(b)(1), Florida Constitution.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

On July 20, 1988, Tony Hayes was visiting his friend Nathan Watson. The pair left Watson's house at approximately eight p.m. and met up with Anthony Gillam, another friend. (R451-4, 689-4) The trio bought some beer and each drank approximately one quart each. (R455,694) The trio also snorted some cocaine and imbibed in some marijuana. (R455) They eventually left Second Avenue and walked to the campus of nearby Bethune Cookman College. (R455)

They were out of money, so they discussed ways of obtaining more funds so that they could buy more cocaine. (R455,694,699) A taxi drove by and Gillam proposed that they rob a cabdriver. Hayes pointed out that they would be forced to shoot the driver, since all of the drivers carried guns. Gillam and Watson expressed their reluctance to shoot someone, so Hayes volunteered. (R456,697) The trio did not own a gun, but Gillam revealed that a friend of his had one they could borrow. (R455,694-5) The trio searched out Gillam's friend, and eventually obtained a .25 automatic pistol. (R456-8,695-7) The trio then walked to the Greyhound bus station and, on the way, planned the details of the crime. (R458-9,696-9)

At the bus station, Hayes used the free phone to call a cab. (R459-60,699) When the cab arrived, Gillam sat in the back seat with Hayes behind the driver. Watson sat in the front seat. Saying that they were from out-of-town, they directed the driver

to Emmet Street where they instructed him to turn. (R460-1,698,703) Hayes apparently lost his nerve, since he did not shoot the driver immediately after the turn pursuant to the plan. (R461-2) Hayes finally did shoot and kill the driver. (R461-2,575-85,703,706)

The plan called for Watson to grab the wheel after the shooting and direct the cab to a safe stop. The plan went awry and the cab careened off the road and through some bushes before finally striking a tree and coming to a stop. (R461-3,703-4) The trio jumped out of the cab and Gillam and Watson began wiping down the cab in an attempt to remove any fingerprints. Hayes went through the driver's pockets relieving him of the evening's proceeds. (R463-5,706-7) Gillam fled the scene in one direction while Watson and Hayes ran together in another. (R467-9,707-8) They rendezvoused later. With the forty-dollar proceeds, the trio bought some more beer and cocaine. (R351-6,470,469-700,708-9)

#### PENALTY PHASE

Tony's mom knew he was facing trial and potential death sentence when she left town with no forwarding address. (R1110) Tony's father deserted the family when Tony was a baby. Hayes' mother remarried an abusive stepfather who did not get along with any of his stepchildren. The stepfather continuously abused all of the children. (R1093-4,1106-7) When he was home, Tony was forced to stay in his own room. The "father" allowed his biological daughter to watch television, but would not allow the

other children. (R1107)

Tony's aunt admitted that her sister was not a good mother. Most of the time, Tony and his siblings went without food and proper clothing. (R1107) She never kept food in the house. The children were reduced to stealing in order to eat. (R1107) Tony's mother would leave town frequently leaving her children completely unattended. Other family members usually found out about the children's plight after they had been alone for weeks. (R1107-8) Tony's mother encouraged truancy. (R1108-9) At one point, Tony's mother was unable to provide shelter for her family. They slept in abandoned cars and on park benches. (R1109) Other family members attempted to help but were unable to do much. They reported Tony's mother to the authorities, but nothing was done. (R1109) Although Hayes completed his sophomore year at Seabreeze High School, he was in special classes. (R1093)

Dr. Malcolm J. Graham, III, an expert in the field of clinical psychology, examined Tony Hayes on three separate occasions. (R1086-8) Dr. Graham also conducted a battery of tests. Graham found that Hayes' IQ was 74 placing him in the borderline range of intellectual ability. An IQ of 70 is the cutoff for a retarded classification in the public school system. Hayes' school records were consistent with Dr. Graham's findings. (R1088-90) Hayes' reading skills were almost non-existent. (R1090) His math skills were equally low. Graham described Hayes as basically illiterate with kindergarten level skills. (R1090) Although treatment would have been appropriate, Hayes

never received any as an adolescent or a young child. (R1094)

Dr. Graham also documented Tony Hayes' extreme immaturity. One portion of the intelligence test measures a person's ability to make common-sense decisions. (R1095) Hayes fell woefully short in this category. His score placed him in the second percentile. An average eighteen-year-old would score in the fiftieth percentile. (R1095)

Dr. Graham also conducted a test to measure neuropsychological functioning. Graham found marked central nervous system dysfunction, primarily in the left parietal and central lobe of the brain. The doctor was unable to discover the cause of such damage. Hayes did suffer two concussions during his mid-teens. (R1091) Hayes began drinking when he was fifteen consuming as many as 22 beers per day. He also consumed a fifth of cheap wine on occasion. His daily drinking continued for approximately three years. Hayes experienced multiple blackouts with some memory loss. At age sixteen, Hayes began smoking approximately ten marijuana cigarettes every two days. He also smoked cocaine on several occasions. (R1092) Dr. Graham opined that, if Hayes remained free of drugs and alcohol, he would stabilize. Hayes' use of cocaine and alcohol increased the probability of aggressive behavior. (R1095-6) The drug use coupled with Hayes' low intellectual functioning and central nervous system dysfunction would all increase the probability of aggressive behavior. (R1095-6) It was the doctor's expert opinion that Hayes' ability to conform his conduct to the

requirements of the law was definitely impaired that evening.

(R1096) Graham found Hayes to be an excellent candidate for rehabilitation if he were sentenced to life imprisonment. (R1094)

### SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

POINT I: This point deals with the improper introduction of hearsay evidence. Over objection, a state witness was allowed to testify to a hearsay statement that placed Appellant's best friend at the scene of the crime.

POINT II: The trial court improperly allowed the state to present evidence of Appellant's testimony at the suppression hearing. Such evidence is strictly prohibited by the holding in Simmons v. United States, 390 U.S. 377 (1968).

POINT III: Appellant contends that his statement to Detective Smith was neither intelligent, knowing, or voluntary. The state failed to meet its burden of showing that Appellant's statement was voluntary in light of the fact that the Appellant was borderline retarded, fatigued, drunk, and under the influence of cocaine and marijuana. The coercive atmosphere combined with these factors to render the statement involuntary.

POINT IV: At the suppression hearing, Appellant was attempting to show the court the involuntary nature of his statement. A psychologist testified on behalf of the defense. The trial court precluded defense counsel from asking the psychologist about the effect of alcohol and drugs on Appellant's ability to comprehend his constitutional rights.

POINT V: Appellant attempted to present evidence that the victim had cocaine and marijuana in his urine at the time he was killed. The trial court excluded evidence based on irrelevance. Without this witness, Appellant had no case at all.

POINT VI: Appellant asserts that the trial court was unfair in the disposition of challenges for cause during jury selection. One juror had a lawsuit pending against the city, but stated that she could be fair. The court granted the state's challenge as to that juror. In contrast, the trial court denied Appellant's challenge to a juror whose wife worked as a medical secretary for the medical examiner that testified at trial.

POINT VII: Bruce Hayes' identification of the Appellant was tainted based upon the totality of the circumstances. Hayes' accounts of what he saw vary greatly. He got only a glimpse under poor lighting. Appellant's photograph contained in the lineup was noticeably different from the other photographs.

POINT VIII: The facts of this case do not constitute grounds to impose the ultimate sanction. Imposition of the death penalty in this case is disproportionate when compared to other cases reviewed by this Court. Appellant's crime was a conventional first-degree murder. This fact coupled with Appellant's youth, deprived childhood, low intelligence, intoxication, and the treatment of his co-defendants, should result in a life sentence.

POINT IX: Appellant contends that the trial court erred in its consideration of the various aggravating and mitigating circumstances. A proper weighing should result in a life sentence.

POINT X: The jury recommendation was tainted where they were instructed on the aggravating circumstance dealing with "pecuniary gain" as well as the circumstance that the murder was

committed during the course of a robbery. Although the trial court did not weigh both of these factors in her written findings of fact, the state was allowed to present evidence and argue both of these factors. This constitutes impermissible doubling and renders the recommendation suspect.

POINT XI: Defense counsel filed a motion to withdraw citing irreconcilable differences with the Appellant. After a hearing, the trial court denied the motion. That hearing is not contained in the record on appeal and Appellant sought to supplement the record with it. Although the attorney general did not object to that particular portion of Appellant's motion to supplement, this Court inexplicably denied the request. This results in inadequate appellate review and denies Hayes his constitutional right to due process and equal protection.

POINT XII: Hayes urges reversal based upon various errors that either individually or cumulatively denied him a fair trial.

POINT XIII: Appellant urges that the Florida Capital Sentencing Statute is unconstitutional for a variety of reasons.

POINT I

IN CONTRAVENTION OF APPELLANT'S  
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF  
LAW AND TO A FAIR TRIAL, THE TRIAL COURT  
ERRED IN OVERRULING A DEFENSE OBJECTION  
AND ALLOWING HEARSAY EVIDENCE WHICH  
CONTRIBUTED TO THE CONVICTION.

Bruce Hayes was driving with his thirteen-year-old son, Sedrick, when they saw the aftermath of Thomas Pabst's murder. (R494-8) One month after the crime, Bruce Hayes selected Nathan Watson's photo as well as the Appellant's photo from two photographic displays. (R626-18,641-9,501-3) At trial, Hayes identified the Appellant as one of the two men he saw in the vicinity of Pabst's cab immediately following the crime. (R498-9) Although Hayes did not recognize the men, his son, Sedrick, thought he recognized one of the men as Nay-Nay, also known as Nathan Watson. (R499,618-19) Over Appellant's timely and specific hearsay objection, the trial court allowed Bruce Hayes to testify to his son's statement, "Daddy, that's Nay-Nay and them." (R499) The trial court erroneously accepted the prosecutor's argument that a prior identification is an exception to the hearsay rule.

Section 90.801(2), Florida Statutes (1987) provides:

(2) A statement is not hearsay if the declarant testifies at the trial or hearing and is subject to cross-examination concerning the statement and the statement is:

\* \* \*

(c) One of identification of a person made after perceiving him.

(emphasis added). Sedrick Hayes did not testify at the trial or any other hearing below. The above-cited section clearly states that a prior identification is not hearsay only if the declarant testifies. s. 90.801(2)(c), Fla. Stat. (1987). This exception recognizes that an identification made shortly after an event is much more reliable in most situations than identifications made at a later time. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence, s.801.9 (2d. Ed. 1984). However, if the person making the out-of-court identification does not testify, evidence of the identification is not admissible. E.g. Graham v. State, 479 So.2d 824 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) [reversible error for officer to testify that there were two witnesses, who were not called at trial, who identified the defendant as the perpetrator of the crime]; Postell v. State, 398 So.2d 851, 854 (Fla. 3d DCA 1981) [police officer's testimony concerning testimony by non-testifying informant is hearsay]; Cullimore v. Barnett Bank, 386 So.2d 894 (Fla. 1st DCA 1980) [person making identification did not testify therefore Section 90.801(2)(c) is not applicable]; and Knight v. State, 373 So.2d 52, 53 (Fla. 4th DCA 1974) [error to admit identification testimony where witness was not present at trial].

The prejudice of the objectionable evidence is clear. The statement placed Appellant's best friend at the scene of the crime. Throughout the trial, Appellant was identified as a close friend of Nathan Watson. They spent much time together and were frequently mistaken for brothers. It is therefore clear that the trial court's error in allowing the hearsay statement of Sedrick

Hayes is not harmless error. Sedrick's hearsay statement implicates Appellant through his association with Nathan Watson. The trial court's ruling denied Tony Hayes his constitutional right to due process of law and to a fair trial. Amends. V, VI, and XIV, U.S. Const; Art. I, ss. 9 and 16, Fla. Const.

POINT II

IN CONTRAVENTION OF APPELLANT'S  
CONSTITUTIONAL RIGHT TO DUE PROCESS OF  
LAW AND TO A FAIR TRIAL, THE TRIAL COURT  
ERRED IN ALLOWING THE STATE TO PRESENT  
EVIDENCE OF APPELLANT'S TESTIMONY FROM  
THE SUPPRESSION HEARING CONTRARY TO  
SIMMONS V. UNITED STATES, 390 U.S. 377  
(1968).

An important issue at trial concerned the amount of beer consumed by Tony Hayes the night of the murder. Hayes' intoxication played an important role in the litigation of his motion to suppress statements to Detective Smith at the police station following the murder. See Point III, infra. During the waiver of his rights that night, Hayes told Detective Smith that he had consumed four beers earlier in the evening. (R1271) At the suppression hearing and at trial, Hayes' intoxication was a factor in considering the voluntariness of his statement. The amount of beer consumed by Hayes obviously also has a bearing on the issue of premeditation. It also was important in the consideration of mitigating factors.

At the suppression hearing, Detective Smith testified that Hayes told him that he drank four beers that night. (R936-8,1271) Hayes also testified at the suppression hearing. (R958-82) On cross-examination, the prosecutor managed to catch Hayes in a contradiction as to the number of beers he shared with his friends that night. (R966-7) This resulted in Hayes testifying at the suppression hearing that he only drank two beers. (R970-2)

Detective Smith testified at trial, during which the

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