IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

TONY LEON HAYES,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 75,040

STO J. WHITE

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

AUG 3 1990



ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR VOLUSIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ROBERT. A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 210 N. Palmetto Avenue Suite 447 Daytona Beach, Florida 32114 (904) 238-4990

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

POINT X

THE TRIAL COURT WAS CORRECT IN INSTRUCTING THE JURY ON BOTH PECUNIARY GAIN AND COMMITTED DURING THE COURSE OF A BURGLARY.

Hayes contends it was error for the trial court to instruct on, and allow the prosecutor to argue, both pecuniary gain and "committed during the course of a robbery" as aggravating factors. Although trial counsel interposed argument about whether the two factors were doubled, he did not object when the prosecutor argued the factors or when the court instructed on the factors (R 1124, 1139). This issue was therefore waived for appellate review. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978).

Hayes recognizes that this court has specifically rejected the instant claim in <u>Suarez v. State</u>, 481 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1985),

but urges the court to reconsider its holding in that case. Suarez is on all fours with the present case, Hayes has presented no compelling reason for this court to change its ruling. The prosecutor arguing both aggravating factors did not prejudice Hayes where the trial court properly recognized the findings encompassed only one aggravating factor. Deaton v. State, 480 So.2d 1279, 1282 (Fla. 1985).

POINT XI

THIS COURT PROPERLY DENIED THE APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPLEMENT THE RECORD.

Hayes claims this court erred in denying his motion to supplement the record with the original indictment, transcript of his taped statement, and transcript of the hearing on trial counsel's motion to withdraw.

On May 11, 1990, appellate defense counsel filed a motion to supplement the record. The state replied that Hayes' motion sought supplementation of the record with meaningless items that, in some cases may or may not exist, or which already existed in Specifically, the previous indictment meaningless since the indictment on which the conviction is based was already in the record. Similarly, the request for a speculative motion to withdraw by prior counsel was baseless and irrelevant. The state also objected to supplementing with a transcript of the tape recording because the tape was already a The state did not object to supplementing part of the record. with the December 15, 1988, hearing on counsel's motion to withdraw. This court denied the motion to supplement on June 1, 1990.

As stated in the state's reply, the items requested are unnecessary to a determination of this appeal. Even though the state did not object to supplementation with the hearing transcript, there is no issue here of conflict of counsel. Contrary to Hayes' assertion, defense counsel did not specifically decline to withdraw his previous motion to withdraw as counsel (Initial Brief at 60). What trial counsel said was "I think it's already been ruled on and there is nothing to withdraw. If there were new grounds for another such motion, it would have been raised again and it has not been" (R 904). Hayes advised the court at that time and on two other occasions that he was satisfied with counsel (R 904, 668, 1143). If there had been a problem at some point, it was resolved and the parties resolved their differences.

This court did not err in denying the motion to supplement the record.

POINT XII

HAYES WAS NOT DENIED A FAIR TRIAL DUE TO CUMULATIVE ERROR WHERE NO ERRORS EXIST.

Hayes' final attack is based upon cumulative error, alleging the trial court: 1) limited voir dire, 2) restricted cross examination, 3) allowed the medical examiner to build a model of the taxi in the courtroom, 4) denied his motion to interview a juror, and, 5) was less than even-handed in its minor evidentiary rulings.

1. Limitation on voir dire

Hayes complains that the trial court limited defense counsel's questioning of the venire. The incident complained of was when defense counsel asked a juror why she thought the law put the burden on the state. The court called counsel to the bench and said:

THE COURT: Okay. I called you up here because I advised Mr. Kimball that I thought it was proper inquiry to ask jurors whether they accepted a certain point and agreed with it and what they would find, but I don't think it's proper to go into why they feel that's the right theory of law or the right burden. Mr. Kimball?

MR. KIMBALL: I just wanted to ask why, to make sure that they understand these principles and apply these principles.

THE COURT: There's a difference between asking them if they understand a principle and then having them attempt to explain what it is.

MR. KIMBALL: They would always say that they understand it, whether they do or not.

THE COURT: You can inquire further, but just simply why do you think it's that way. Personally I don't care why they think that. It's not for them to decide why. That is a premise of law or theory of our system of government, and why they think -- if they know the actual reason behind it. It is only whether they will accept it and apply it.

MR. KIMBALL: Uh-huh.

(R 138) (End of benchside conference.)

Defense counsel then proceeded to question the jurors in a different manner as follows:

MR. KIMBALL: I'm going to ask you the reverse or sort of the flip side of the question that Mr. Damore asked you. I believe he asked you if you were convinced that the State had met its burden and had proved the Defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt, if you could you return a

guilty verdict. Well, I want to ask you the opposite.

After hearing all of the evidence in the case and you're convinced that the State had not met its burden and that there is a reasonable doubt in the case, will you return a not guilty verdict.

And let me just start with someone here. Mr. Seward?

MR. SEWARD: Yes.

(R 139).

Defense counsel did not object that his questioning was restricted and this issue is not preserved for review. Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). Voir dire may be limited by the trial court and absent an abuse of discretion the ruling should not be overturned. See Stano v. State, 473 So.2d 1282, 1285 (Fla. 1985); Kalinosky v. State, 414 So.2d 234 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); Peri v. State, 426 So.2d 1021 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1983); Jones v. State, 343 So.2d 921 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1977). Hayes has shown no abuse of discretion.

2. Restriction on cross-examination

Hayes claims the trial court erred in restricting cross-examination of Felicia Ross and Nathan Watson. Defense counsel wanted to question Felicia Ross about an occasion when she and her brother Nevis were stopped in a car (R 546). It appears Watson was also in the car. The state objected that the question about whether Nathan Watson was arrested in an automobile in which she was present was irrelevant and immaterial (R 547). Defense counsel argued that the relevance was to show the Ross

girls were pressured by their father, Jake Ross, to give testimony and the father would have been upset by the daughter being in a car where a gun was (R 548). The court asked defense counsel whether what he was trying to elicit was the fact that the witness was found with Watson and her father found out (R 549). The court ruled that defense counsel could question the witness about any knowledge or pressure related to her father, but the facts of the incident with Mr. Watson being arrested were not relevant. Counsel was advised he could question about the incident and elicit the information but the arrest itself was not relevant (R 550).

Defense counsel did not object to this ruling, so any issue is waived. Clark v. State, supra; Castor, supra. Additionally, there was no proffer of the excluded testimony, so the issue is not preserved. Woodson v. State, 483 So.2d 858 (Fla. 5th DCA 1986); Salamy v. State, 509 So.2d 1201 (Fla. 1st DCA 1987).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in limiting cross-examination on a collateral matter. <u>Gelabert v. State</u>, 407 So.2d 1007 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981). The testimony about Watson being arrested was totally irrelevant to this witness' testimony and designed only to show bad character. <u>See Cummings v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 436 (Fla. 4th DCA 1982); <u>Pate v. State</u>, 529 So.2d 328 (Fla. 2d DCA 1988). As the state observed, defense counsel was free to question Jake Ross on the issue (R 551). However, the testimony was not relevant to show bias on the part of Felicia Ross.

The second alleged restriction on cross-examination was when the court sustained a state objection to a question about

why Nathan Watson never said anything about "this thing at the Ross house the day after the incident" (R 721). The state objected on the grounds the question was beyond the scope of direct examination (R 721). Although the Ross girls testified about Hayes telling them the day after the murder that he had there testimony by Watson about done it. was no conversations (R 539-40, 595, 690-713). Cross examination is limited to the subject matter of direct examination and matters affecting the credibility of the witness. §90.612(2) Fla. Stat. The trial court properly sustained the objection.

A limitation on cross examination is not prejudicial where it merely serves to keep out irrelevant matters. Washington v. State, 432 So.2d 44 (Fla. 1983). Section 90.612, Florida Statutes (1987) provides that the judge shall exercise reasonable control over the mode and order of the interrogation of witnesses and presentation of evidence so as to facilitate discovery of the truth, avoid needless consumption of time and protect witnesses from harassment. The rule also provides that cross examination is limited to subject matter brought out on direct examination and to matters affecting credibility.

The trial court has broad discretion in the admission of evidence. Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1159 (Fla. 1981); Demps v. State, 395 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1981). Unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its ruling will not be disturbed. Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988). Hayes was afforded ample opportunity to cross-examine each witness. He is not entitled to unlimited cross-examination in whatever way and to whatever

extent the defense might wish. <u>Kentucky v. Stincer</u>, 482 U.S. 730, 107 S. Ct. 2658, 2664 (1987), quoting <u>Delaware v. Fensterer</u>, 474 U.S. 15, 20, 106 S. Ct. 292, 295, 88 L.Ed. 2d 15 (1985). In <u>Steinhorst v. State</u>, 412 So.2d 332 (Fla. 1982), this court recognized that an accused has a constitutional right to full and fair cross-examination. However, that right is not unlimited. Questions on cross-examination must be related to credibility, or to matters brought out on direct examination. <u>Steinhorst</u> at 337.

Even assuming for the sake of argument that this ruling was error, it is harmless at best. In <u>Delaware v. Van Arsdall</u>, 475 U.S. 673, 684, 106 S.Ct. 1431, 89 L.Ed. 2d 676 (1986), the Court held:

The correct inquiry is whether, assuming the damaging potential of cross-examination were fully realized, a reviewing court might nonetheless say that the error was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. Whether such an error is harmless in a particular case depends upon a host of factor, all readily accessible to reviewing courts. These factors include the importance of the witness' testimony in the prosecution's whether the testimony case, cumulative, the presence or absence of evidence corroborating or contradicting the testimony of the witness on material points, the extent of cross-examination otherwise permitted, and, of course, the overall strength of the prosecution's case. Cf. Harrington, 395 U.S. at 254, 89 S.Ct., at 1728; Schneble v. Florida, 405 U.S., at 432, 92 S. Ct., at 1059.

In the present case, none of the testimony excluded was important, defense counsel was allowed liberal cross-examination, and the points he wished to elicit would not have impacted on the verdict. Hayes has not demonstrated the trial court abused his

discretion in excluding the evidence. <u>Smith v. State</u>, 404 So.2d 167 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981).

3. Allowing medical examiner to "build" a model of the taxi

Hayes contends it was error to allow the medical examiner to demonstrate the angle of the trajectory of the bullet using a hypothetical arrangement of chairs (R 585-86). Anthony Gillam had already testified that Hayes was sitting behind the driver (R An expert witness may state his opinion based on fact 461). within his personal knowledge. In addition, an expert may state his opinion on facts which he does not personally know by answering a hypothetical question in which he is asked to assume certain facts are true. Ehrhardt, Florida Evidence (2nd Ed. 1984) §704.2. The hypothetical question posed by the state was supported by facts in evidence. See Burnham v. State, 497 So.2d 904 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986). The demonstration was relevant to establish that the trajectory of the bullet was consistent with the testimony that Hayes shot the driver from the back seat.

The trial court has broad discretion in the admissibility of evidence. Welty v. State, 402 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1981); Demps v. State, 395 So.2d 501 (Fla. 1981). Unless an abuse of discretion can be shown, its ruling will not be disturbed. Hardwick v. State, 521 So.2d 1071 (Fla. 1988). Hayes has shown no abuse of discretion.

4. Motion to interview juror

Hayes moved to interview a juror alleging that Ms. Tanner was pressured into compromising her verdict by the majority of the jurors (R 1288-90). The trial court heard the motion on

October 27, 1989, at which time defense counsel represented as an officer of the court that the motion was not well taken (R 1155, The court observed that there were no affidavits to support the motion and the juror's behavior in a death case was consistent with the gravity of the situation (R 1159). A claim juror did not agree with a verdict or was unduly influenced by fellow jurors are matters which inhere in the Russ v. State, 95 So.2d 594 (Fla. 1957); Smith v. verdict. State, 330 So.2d 59 (Fla. 1st DCA 1976). Even if this issue is one which did inhere in the verdict, the motion was untimely. A challenge on these grounds must be made before the jury is discharged or the verdict accepted. Marks v. State Road Dept., 69 So.2d 771 (Fla. 1954); Powell v. State, 414 So.2d 1095 (Fla. 5th DCA 1982). Even when the error comes to light the very next day, the motion is untimely. Smith, supra. As the trial court noted, there were no affidavits to support defense counsel's allegations. See Powell, supra. Activities involving juror deliberations inhere in the verdict and even if there are affidavits alleging a juror was pressured, a new trial is not Mitchell v. State, 527 So.2d 179 (Fla. 1988); See required. also, Scongers v. State, 513 So.2d 1113 (Fla. 2d DCA 1987).

5. Trial court was not even-handed

Hayes alleges the trial court was not even-handed in its evidentiary rulings because it frequently sustained the state's objections and denied defense counsel's. He cites one instance in which the court overruled defense counsel's objection on the ground the question was outside the scope of cross examination

when the state asked Gillam to identify Hayes. Hayes compares this to a state objection which was sustained when defense counsel asked a witness whether he ever said Watson looked directly towards the car. The question was posed immediately after the witness had testified that Watson had his head down. Not only was the question asked and answered, but it was also argumentative. The trial court was correct in its rulings. Hayes has failed to show any vestige of partiality and his allegations are unfounded.

There was no error, either individually, cumulatively, or otherwise as outlined in Points I and II. Error, if any, was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d 1129 (Fla. 1986).

POINT XIII

THE FLORIDA CAPITAL SENTENCING STATUTE IS CONSTITUTIONAL ON ITS FACE AND AS APPLIED.

This argument is presented virtually word for word in every brief, and consistently rejected by the court. Mendyk v. State, 545 So.2d 846 (Fla. 1989); Stano v. State, 460 So.2d 890 (Fla. 1984). Most of the alleged constitutional infirmities raised on appeal were not raised at the trial court level and are procedurally barred. Ventura v. State, 15 F.L.W. S190 (Fla. April 5, 1990); Swafford v. State, 533 So.2d 270 (Fla. 1988). Those issues which are not procedurally barred have been rejected. Proffitt v. Florida, 428 U.S. 242 (1976); Lightbourne v. State, 438 So.2d 380 (Fla. 1983); State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973).

This court's recent opinions indicate that this court continues to reject constitutionality arguments. Carter v. State, 14 F.L.W. 525 (Fla. Oct. 19, 1989); Bouie v. State, 15 F.L.W. S188 (Fla. April 5, 1990); Ventura v. State, 15 F.L.W. S190 (Fla. April 5, 1990); Randolph v. State, 15 F.L.W. S271 (Fla. May 3, 1990).

CONCLUSION

Based on the forgoing arguments and authorities presented herein, appellee respectfully prays this honorable court affirm the judgment and sentence in all respects.